1980

In the Matter of the Estate of David E. Ross, Deceased : Brief of Appellants

Utah Supreme Court

NATURE OF THE CASE

This is a proceeding initiated by the personal representative of the decedent David E. Ross for a judicial determination as to whether certain shares of corporate stock owned by the decedent should be distributed as part of the estate, or whether such shares had been previously given to one of the heirs by the decedent prior to his death.

DISPOSITION IN LOWER COURT

On August 24, 1979, a full evidentiary hearing was held before the Honorable David E. Dee, at which time the claimant donee offered evidence in an attempt to prove that certain shares of stock passed to him by inter vivos gifts. A claim disputed by the remaining heirs. On October 19, 1979, the lower court issued its Memorandum Decision in favor of Earl Roderick Ross and held that an inter vivos gift of stock had been made prior to the decedent's death.

RELIEF SOUGHT ON APPEAL

Appellants David E. Ross II and Betsy Louise Ross Rapps (the only other heirs of the decedent) seek reversal of the trial court's judgment and an order of this Court that the

stock now in controversy should be included in the estate of the decedent to be divided equally among the three heirs.

STATEMENT OF FACTS

On November 9, 1979, the lower court executed its Findings of Fact and Conclusions of Law prepared by the attorney for Earl Roderick Ross. (R., pp. 110-121). Subsequently, appellants filed a "Motion to Alter and Amend the Decree, Findings of Fact and Conclusions of Law." (R., pp. 128-129). Appellants submitted "Amended Findings of Fact and Conclusions of Law" for the consideration of the Court. (R., pp. 146-155). The trial court denied the appellants' motion and ratified the previous Findings of Fact filed with the clerk. (R., pp. 144-145).

Appellants maintained in the lower court that the Findings entered by the lower court were erroneous in two respects. First, that certain legal conclusions were made in the "Findings of Fact" and second, that material facts were omitted from the Findings. (TR., pp. 453-464). The lower court rejected these arguments. (TR., pp. 465-466). In any event, however, a comparison of the proposed Findings submitted by appellants and the actual Findings filed with the clerk show minimal differences. While appellants contend that certain critical findings were omitted by the trial court, appellants have little dispute as to the actual Findings entered by the trial court and would agree, for purposes of this appeal, that the facts as found are basically undisputed.

Since the Argument portion of this brief will concern

itself with specific findings and conclusions of the trial court, there would be no purpose served in extensive repetition of the facts at this point. However, a brief overview of the facts should be helpful to this Court in understanding the position of the parties. References to the transcript will be omitted as to all undisputed facts and will only be included as to facts in dispute or as to facts omitted in the Findings of the trial court.

The decedent David E. Ross was the secretary and treasurer of Equitable Life Insurance Company for many years, and served as a director and stock transfer agent of the company. (Tr., p. 176). The respondent Earl Roderick Ross (hereinafter referred to as "Rod Ross") is a son of the decedent. Appellant David Ross II is also a son of the decedent and is the brother of Rod. Appellant Betsy Ross Rapps (hereinafter referred to as "Betsy Rapps") is a daughter of the decedent and is the sister of Rod and David.

The decedent was also secretary and treasurer and stock transfer agent of four other corporations known as Ross Brothers Corporation, Equitable Investment Company, Insurance Investment Company, and National Housing and Finance Company. (Tr., p. 177).

Appellant Betsy Rapps resides in Fairfax, Virginia, and has lived there for six years. (Tr., p. 373). Appellant David Ross II lives in St. Charles, Illinois (Tr., p. 313). Respondent Rod Ross previously lived in the eastern United States but returned to Salt Lake in 1972 and has lived here

since that time. (Tr., pp. 267-269).

In 1972 Rod Ross began working for Equitable Life Insurance Company and saw his father on an occasional basis at the company. Rod continued to work for the company and is presently the new secretary-treasurer. (Tr., p. 268).

It is basically undisputed that between 1974 and 1978 the decedent discussed with several persons his desire to reward Rod for his efforts in the company by giving him stock in addition to that which would be distributed to him under the decedent's will. (R., p. 117). The majority of these conversations adduced at trial concerned a future intent to give additional unnamed stock to Rod. (E.g. Tr., pp. 203, 218, 297-298, 301). In other conversations, the decedent purportedly mentioned specific gifts which he intended on making, or which he had already made. (Tr., pp. 206, 310).

Although the decedent's intent as expressed to several witnesses is basically undisputed as to his desire to reward Rod, it is equally undisputed that he was deeply concerned about the problems that would develop with his other children by the gift of any additional shares. (Tr., pp. 204, 207, 261). Even Rod Ross recognized this problem and said that he did not want to be a party to any decision giving him extra stock since it would only cause problems with Betsy and Dave. (Tr., p. 206).

Prior to May of 1977 the decedent maintained a safety deposit box at First Security Bank and kept all family stock certificates in that box. The decedent maintained the stock for the entire Ross family which included his own family,

the family of his brother Galen, and the family of his deceased brother Ray. Each family member had his or her own envelope in which various stock certificates were placed by the decedent. (Tr., pp. 179, 185).

In November of 1974 the decedent cancelled a stock certificate which he owned in Equitable Life and Casualty Insurance Company and issued a new certificate in the name of Earl Roderick Ross for 2,210.70 shares. He reissued a new certificate to himself for the surplus shares which were not given to Rod. A stock ledger sheet of Equitable was prepared by the decedent and reflected the issuance of shares to Rod and the cancellation of the decedent's shares. The certificate was placed in an envelope which had the name of Earl Roderick Ross written upon it and was dated November 29, 1974. The decedent placed the envelope in the First Security safety deposit box. None of the decedent's heirs had access to this box.

On December 2, 1974, a stock dividend was declared by Equitable Life and Casualty Company and an additional 552.67 shares were issued by the company to Earl Roderick Ross. The actual paper transaction was again accomplished by the decedent, who was secretary and treasurer of the corporation, and he again placed the new stock certificate in a second envelope noting the name of Earl Roderick Ross and dating it December 2, 1974. This envelope also was placed in the safe deposit box.

On November 30, 1976, and on May 3, 1977, two stock

dividends were paid directly by Equitable Life and Casualty to Earl Roderick Ross, each amount being \$276.33.

In May of 1977 the decedent's brother Ray died. At that time the decedent and his surviving brother Galen transferred the contents of the First Security safety deposit box to the company safe of Equitable Casualty. (Tr., pp. 178-179). This safe, which contained all of the family stock certificates, was located in a small room adjoining the decedent's office. Only the decedent, the president, and the vice-president of the company had the safe's combination.

Rod Ross attended stockholder meetings of Equitable Life Insurance Company and the other corporations managed by his father even before any purported gift of stock had been made to him. (Tr. 274). On December 5, 1977, an organizational meeting was held for Ross Brothers Corporation. The corporation was formed in order to distribute the assets of a former partnership owned by the three Ross brothers. At the meeting Galen Ross issued new stock certificates and handed them to each recipient. Rod was handed a certificate of 250 shares which represented 25 percent of his father's allotted shares. After examining the certificate Rod handed it to his father. The decedent subsequently placed it into the safe with the other family certificates.

In February of 1978 several stock transactions occurred in which stock certificates were issued in the name of Earl Roderick Ross for the Equitable Investment Company, the Insurance Investment Company, and the National Housing and

Finance Syndicate Corporation. These transactions are outlined in the Findings of the Court. (Tr., pp. 114-116). A separate stock ledger sheet was created on the records of the Insurance Investment Company under the name of Earl Roderick Ross but no ledger entries were made for the transfers as to the other two companies since ledger sheets were not maintained.

The certificates as to these three companies were placed in a single envelope with the name of Rod Ross and the certificate numbers written upon it. This envelope was then placed in the safe in the office of the decedent.

A will was prepared by the decedent's brother Galen on February 17, 1978, which divided the decedent's estate equally among the three surviving children. Mr. Ross, upon cross-examination, identified four exhibits which were in his handwriting and which noted the number of purported shares transferred by the decedent to Rod Ross as to each company. Mr. Ross stated that these were notes that the witness had made for provisions to be placed in the decedent's will but that these specific clauses were never actually put into the will. (Tr., pp. 265-266). Thus, the will made no mention of any prior gifts having been made to Rod.

It is also undisputed, although not contained in the Court's Findings, that no tax returns were ever filed by the decedent with respect to any of the alleged gifts (Tr., p. 240), that respondent Rod Ross had no access to either the safety deposit box or the safe, that after his father's death he was not aware where any of the certificates were located (Tr., p. 277), and that Rod did not see the envelopes

containing the stock until after his father's death.
(Tr., p. 272).

Numerous other facts were raised at the hearing. These facts concerned the credibility of the witnesses, the sequence of events, the knowledge of the respondent as to the gifts, and the conversations among the parties regarding the gifts after the decedent's death.

The case was submitted to the trial court after extensive briefing by both parties. A Memorandum Decision was made by the lower court on October 19, 1979. The court concluded that a valid gift had been made by the decedent to Rod Ross prior to the decedent's death. A Judgment and Decree and accompanying Findings of Fact and Conclusions of Law were subsequently executed by the trial court. (R., p. 107-120).

It is from this judgment that the present appeal is taken. (R., p. 137).

ARGUMENT

EVEN ASSUMING THE FACTS AS FOUND BY THE LOWER COURT TO BE CORRECT, THE COURT ERRED AS A MATTER OF LAW BY MISAPPLYING THE LAW TO THESE FACTS AND CONCLUDING THAT A VALID GIFT HAD BEEN MADE.

Appellants David Ross II and Betsy Rapps maintain that the lower court committed prejudicial error in determining that a valid gift had been made of the various stock when the facts as found by the trial court failed to show that essential elements of a valid gift were present. Thus, appellants do not dispute the evidence supporting the court's findings, but do dispute the conclusions reached from these findings. This contention was expressed in Elton v. Utah State Retirement

Board, 503 P.2d 137 (Utah 1972) as follows:

A trial court's findings will not be disturbed unless clearly against the weight of evidence or unless it manifestly appears that the court has misapplied the law to the established facts. Id. at 138 (Emphasis added).

A review of the rules applicable to gift cases is necessary in order to understand the arguments now advanced by these appellants.

A. BURDEN OF PROOF

This Court has repeatedly held that one who claims title to property by inter vivos gift has the burden of proving all of the elements of such gifts by clear and convincing evidence. The law in Utah in this regard is consistent with the overwhelming weight of authority in other jurisdictions. This standard has been stated as follows:

There is no presumption in favor of a gift inter vivos. One who asserts title by gift inter vivos has the burden of proving that a gift was made, including the existence of all of the elements essential to its validity. . . . Courts watch gifts inter vivos with caution, especially where, as here, their enforcement would result in an inequitable distribution of decedent's property. Jones v. Cook, 223 P.2d 423, 425 (Utah 1950).

The standard of proof required in gift cases is higher than the normal civil case. Rather than the "preponderance of evidence" test, courts require that the evidence must be "clear and convincing." As stated by this Court:

We are quite in accord with the proposition of law advocated by the plaintiff: That the initial burden as to the prima facie proof of a gift, and also the burden of ultimate persuasion in the case, rests upon the defendant as to the claiming donee. We further agree with the general rule that one so claiming a gift from another must

so demonstrate by clear and convincing evidence; and this is especially so when the claimed donor is deceased. Sims v. George, 446 P.2d 831, 833 (Utah 1970).
(Emphasis added).

The standard of "clear and convincing" proof has likewise been defined by this Court as follows:

For a matter to be clear and convincing to a particular mind it must at least have reached the point where there remains no serious or substantial doubt as to the correctness of the conclusion. A mind which was of the opinion that it was convinced and yet which entertained, not a slight, but a reasonable doubt as to the correctness of its conclusion, would seem to be in a state of confusion. Greener v. Greener, 212 P.2d 194, 205 (Utah 1949).

Similarly, this Court in Lovett v. Continental Bank and Trust Company, 286 P.2d 1065 (Utah 1955), stated that clear and convincing proof approaches that degree of proof required in a criminal case viz, "beyond a reasonable doubt."

The reason for requiring this high standard of proof is obvious. Once a person has died there is no way for the decedent to refute the claims of the living that gifts were made prior to death. Unless a high standard of proof is maintained the estate of a decedent could be virtually wiped out by claims of inter vivos gifts. This principle was again stated by this Court when it said:

While it is the duty of courts to enforce the intention of the owner, it is also their duty to protect his estate against all claims unless established in conformity to law. Holman v. Deseret Savings Bank, 124 P. 765, 768 (Utah 1912).

As will be seen from the following discussion, the trial court failed to apply this standard to the facts of this case.

B. ELEMENTS OF AN INTER VIVOS GIFT.

In order for a person to successfully claim title to property by inter vivos gift, he must first prove by clear and convincing evidence each of the following elements:

(1) A clear and unmistakable intention on the part of the donor to pass immediate ownership. Jones v. Cook, 223 P.2d 423 (Utah 1950); Lovett v. Continental Bank and Trust Company, 286 P.2d 1065 (Utah 1955).

(2) An irrevocable delivery. Wiggill v. Cheney, 597 P.2d 1351 (Utah 1979); Lovett v. Continental Bank and Trust Company, 286 P.2d 1066 (Utah 1955); Losee v. Jones, 235 P.2d 132 (Utah 1951).

(3) Acceptance. Simms v. George, 446 P.2d 831 (Utah 1970).

Appellants disputed each of these necessary elements in the lower court. Evidence was presented, for example, that while the decedent often expressed an intention to give Rod additional stock, this intention was phrased in terms of the future and that the decedent hesitated in actually completing the gift because of the disharmony which would occur to the family unit once the gift was made. Likewise, appellants disputed the acceptance of the gift by Rod on the basis that he was completely unaware of what stock had been given to him, if

any, and was as curious to see the purported gift as were the other heirs.

Of course, Rod Ross put on evidence contrary to that of appellants and the trial court chose to believe his version of the evidence regarding intent and acceptance. Upon review of this record appellants have concluded that this Court could find substantial evidence to support the lower court's conclusion of intent and acceptance, and therefore do not appeal from these findings.

The element of "irrevocable delivery," however, does require reversal. As will be shown infra, even if it is assumed that the trial court believed all of the facts in support of delivery as produced by Rod Ross at the trial, this evidence is insufficient as a matter of law to justify a finding of irrevocable delivery.

C. FINDINGS OF THE LOWER COURT REGARDING DELIVERY.

After hearing evidence presented by both parties the Court issued its own Memorandum Decision on October 19, 1979. This decision, together with the Findings subsequently entered, show the basis for the Court's judgment that delivery had been performed. The Memorandum Decision stated, in part, the following:

The Court finds that there was a clear and unmistakable intention on the part of the deceased to pass immediate ownership to E. Roderick Ross and that there was an irrevocable delivery to him and an acceptance by him of the stock certificates here in question.

In arriving at this decision the Court is cognizant of the part played by stock record books which, in this case, clearly

indicated a transfer on these books and records to E. Roderick Ross and an actual issuance of certificates requiring the signature of both the deceased and Galen Ross to effectuate the intent of the donor. Had the certificates in fact not been placed in an envelope in a safe or desk drawer of David E. Ross, which seemed to be his custom in regards to all certificates of stock, but in fact the certificate became lost, then the only source of information as to ownership would have been the corporate stock transfer records and by entry on these records a clear and unmistakable contention for immediate ownership transfer is recorded. These records also indicate an irrevocable delivery and an acceptance . . . The stock record books give a basis for determination of voting power, dividend recipients, and persons to whom corporate information such as proxy, notice of meetings, etc., must be furnished and are the most clear and convincing evidence as to the actual owners of a corporation. (R., p. 106).

On November 9, 1979, the lower court executed its Findings of Fact and Conclusions of Law. Viewing these Findings most favorably to Respondent Rod Ross with reference to the requirement of irrevocable delivery reveals the following:

(a) A November 1974 transaction in which Rod Ross received 2,210.7 shares of Equitable Life and Casualty common stock was received in the stock ledger book of the company by the decedent. (R., p. 112).

(b) A stock dividend of 552 shares of Equitable Life and Casualty was distributed in the name of Earl Roderick Ross.

(c) The respondent received two cash dividends in the amount of \$276.33 on May 3, 1977, and November 30, 1976.

(d) On December 5, 1977, a certificate for 250 shares of Ross Brothers stock was physically handed to Respondent by his uncle Galen Ross. Respondent then handed this certificate to his father, David E. Ross.

(e) On February 17, 1978, additional stock was issued to Respondent in Equitable Investment Company, Insurance Investment Company, and National Housing and Finance Syndicate Corporation. All of these transfers were recorded on the books and records of the respective corporations and, in addition, a separate stock ledger sheet was created in the Insurance Investment Company under the name of Respondent Rod Ross.

(f) All of the preceding certificates were placed in envelopes with the name of Respondent Earl Roderick Ross upon them and with notations made by the decedent as to the various certificate numbers and number of shares.

(g) These stock certificates were kept along with all family stock certificates, both owned and not owned by the decedent, and were kept in either the First Security safety deposit box or the safe of Equitable Life Insurance Company. (R., pp. 110-119).

The trial court enumerated the basis for its conclusion of law that a delivery of the certificates had taken place by stating the following:

[O]n each of the gifts, there was clear and convincing evidence of a voluntary transfer of possession sufficient to show delivery of each of the certificates, such delivery being demonstrated by:

(a) A complete transfer on the books and records of the corporation for each of the shares in question; and

(b) By the placing of each of the shares in a properly identified envelope to be kept with and maintained with the certificates belonging to each of the members of the Ross family; and

(c) The complete lack of any effort by the decedent to revoke, to set conditions on or otherwise exercise any prerequisite of ownership in any of the shares in question. (R., pp. 119-120).

As will be seen infra, these findings made by the lower court and the reasoning used by the court in its Memorandum Decision are contrary to Utah law and therefore the conclusions and judgment are erroneous.

D. PURPOSE OF REQUIRING ACTUAL DELIVERY OF STOCK.

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