1980

# In the Matter of the Estate of David E. Ross, Deceased : Brief of Respondent

Utah Supreme Court

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

## LEGAL ARGUMENT

A. The trial court correctly interpreted the evidence and properly applied Utah law when it held that decedent made valid inter vivos gifts of stock to his son Rod Ross.

The ruling of the trial court was clearly correct on all points of Utah inter vivos gift law which holds that a valid gift requires (1) a clear intent and (2) some demonstrative act showing the donor's relinquishment of ownership in the property being given.<sup>1</sup>

This Court articulated these requirements in Helper State Bank v. Crus, 95 Utah 320, 81 P.2d 359, 365 (1938):

[The donor] must have intended that some title, either legal or equitable, should pass to [the donee] during his lifetime, and in addition to merely having such intention, he must have performed some act or acts which indicated his intention to pass such title to her during his lifetime. (Citations omitted; emphasis added).

To the same effect, Christensen v. Ogden State Bank, 75 Utah 471, 286 P. 638, 643 (1930) stated that the donor must intend that either the legal or equitable title pass to the donee during the donor's lifetime and that "[t]here must be some act performed by the donor which indicates his intention to vest in the donee some right to the property during the life of the donor." (Emphasis added). The Court went on to note, "The courts are not in agreement as to what acts are necessary for a donor to perform in order that

---

<sup>1</sup>Acceptance of a gift that is beneficial to the donee is ordinarily presumed. Sims v. George, 24 Utah 2d 102, 466 P.2d 831, 833 n.7 (1970); See also, Annotation, 23 A.L.R. 2d 1171 (1952).

his intention shall be given effect." Id.

In deciding whether the requirements have been met, this Court has not engaged in mechanical analysis of artificial categories, but has focused on all the facts and circumstances presented at trial.

'As pointed out by the courts, each case in which a gift is involved must, to a large extent, be controlled by its own peculiar facts and circumstances. While it is true that certain forms of law must be complied with, yet it is also true that the intention of the donor must also receive due consideration and effect, and if in making a gift he has substantially complied with the latter, and it is clear that he intended to make a gift, his intentions must prevail.'

Helper State Bank v. Crus, 95 Utah 320, 81 P.2d 359, 366 (1938) quoting from Boyle v. Dinsdale, 45 Utah 112, 143 P. 136 (1914). Accord, Holman v. Deseret Savings Bank, 41 Utah 340, 124 P. 765, 768 (1912).

Consistent with the approach in Crus, this Court has held on numerous occasions that delivery itself is essentially a matter of intent. When the Court must determine whether an act is sufficient to constitute "delivery," the intent of the donor in performing the act is critical.

'[Delivery] is the act, however evidenced, by which the instrument takes effect and title thereby passes.'

Mower v. Mower, 93 Utah 390, 288 P. 914 (1924) (citation omitted).

On both the necessary points of Utah law, respondent carried his burden of proof. The evidence on intent was overwhelming, and appellants concede that "this Court could find substantial evi-

dence to support the lower court's conclusion of intent and acceptance." (Brief of Appellants, p. 12).

The record is equally replete with undisputed evidence of clear and demonstrative acts by the decedent showing that he divested himself completely of ownership of the shares being given to Rod.

First, the decedent did everything necessary to make complete transfers of the stock on the corporate books and records of each of the corporations. (Finding of Fact No. 22, R. 116). In each case the decedent surrendered his certificate; the old certificate in the decedent's name was cancelled; a new certificate was issued in Rod's name and another in the name of his father for the balance of the shares; all proper transfers were made in stock record books; and, in those cases where stock ledger sheets were kept for individual share holders, appropriate entries were made. (Findings of Fact Nos. 3,4,5,6,10,14,15,16,17,18,19,20,21,22; R. 111-116).

Appellants suggest that decedent's meticulous completion of the transfers on the stock record books does not prove that the decedent wished to divest himself of ownership of those shares. They argue that decedent could have "undone" all of these transactions.

Their argument is curious. There is no evidence in the record that the decedent ever attempted to "undo" any of these transactions. Moreover, if his father really had only tentative thoughts about making gifts to Rod, why would he have gone to the



trouble of making the transfers complete.

Their argument is also logically deficient. Appellants assert that because there is a remote possibility decedent could have done the opposite of what he actually did, one should infer that he intended the opposite of what he did. Without proof, the argument means nothing.

Second, the certificate for the Ross Brothers shares and one or possibly two certificates in National Housing and Finance Syndicate, Equitable Investment, and Insurance Investment were actually physically handed to Rod Ross. The Ross Brothers certificate was handed to Rod by Galen Ross at that company's organization meeting in December of 1977. (R. 213-214). Sometime in February of 1978, Rod's father handed him one or two of the certificates for the Insurance Investment, Equitable Investment, and National Housing and Finance Syndicate shares being given to Rod. (R. 274-275).

Third, while the decedent had physical possession of the certificates representing the disputed shares at the time of his death, the record reveals that such custody was consistent with gifts of the stock having been completed. Under the circumstances, the decedent's custodial care of the certificates does not indicate that he wished to control the shares, to retain ownership, or to revoke the gifts made to Rod. Rather, the nature of the custody demonstrates that the decedent treated those certificates as if

ownership of the shares was vested in Rod Ross. To understand the significance of the decedent's custody of the certificates, it is helpful to briefly review the evidence about the Ross family arrangement for keeping the family stock certificates.

It is important to note, first, that the decedent maintained the certificates for all members of the family. He kept the certificates of his brother Galen; those of his nephews and nieces, the children of his deceased brother, Ray; his own certificates; and those of Rod. (Findings of Fact Nos. 24, 25, R. 118). Thus, he had custody of a large number of family certificates to which he clearly had no claim of ownership or control. His custody of the certificates belonging to, say, Galen did not, of course, mean that the decedent had any claim to the shares represented by these certificates. Indeed, the only fair inference to be drawn is that the decedent kept Rod's certificates because he kept all the family certificates, and not because he either felt he "owned" or controlled the shares or because he wished to revoke the gifts to Rod.

Moreover, nothing distinguished the physical custody of Rod's certificates from custody of certificates belonging to other family members; David Ross followed the same procedure for all certificates in his custody. Certificates of each family member were placed in an envelope with a notation as to the name of the owner, name of the company, the certificate number, and the number of shares. This procedure was followed with Galen's shares, with Dianne's shares,

with Earl's shares; it was also followed with Rod's shares.

Finally, Rod exercised all the prerogatives of ownership and control on the Equitable Life and Casualty shares during his father's lifetime. He received and spent cash dividends. He received a stock dividend. He also attended shareholder's meetings and voted the shares in his name. (See Findings of Fact Nos. 7,8, R. 113-114).

On the basis of the foregoing evidence, together with respondent's evidence of donative intent, the trial court concluded that David Ross' gifts of corporate stock to his son Rod were valid and complete. That decision is entirely consistent with Utah inter vivos gift law discussed earlier in this brief.

B. Appellants' statement of the Utah law of inter vivos gifts is incorrect.

Appellants do not dispute that (1) David Ross had a clear present intent to divest himself of ownership of the shares of stock in question and that (2) he performed numerous acts to carry out his stated intent, including surrender of his own stock certificates, issuance of new certificates in the donee's name, and changing of the corporate books to reflect the change in ownership. Rather, appellants urge this Court to rule as a matter of law that an attempted inter vivos gift of corporate stock fails where the donor neglects to perform a symbolic ritual of manual delivery comparable to the ancient rite of "livery of seisen."



The argument is made in two presumably different ways. Appellants first assert that respondent has failed to establish the validity of the gifts by clear and convincing evidence. Second, appellants contend that the law of a majority of jurisdictions, including Utah, requires actual physical delivery of stock certificates for a valid inter vivos gift of corporate stock.

Both of these arguments fail. The first reveals a misunderstanding of both the nature of the clear and convincing standard and also of the degree of proof necessary to satisfy the standard. The second argument is a misstatement of the law.

(1) Clear and convincing evidence supports the facts found by the lower court.

Appellants correctly point out that under Utah law the donee has the burden of proving an inter vivos gift by "clear and convincing" evidence. Appellants do not, however, support their proposition that respondent failed to meet this burden. Indeed, appellants' argument on the point is unclear and confusing.

Since appellants do not dispute any of the basic facts found by the trial court, their argument on burden of proof can only mean one of two things:

(a) That respondent failed to prove an essential element of his case; or

(b) That as a matter of law respondent did not offer proof adequate to satisfy the "clear and convincing" standard.

If appellants mean the former, they are merely restating their assertion that Utah law requires a manual deliver of stock certificates being given by decedent. This argument raises a question of law. Appellants' position, as discussed in other parts of this brief, is incorrect.

If appellants mean the second alternative, they suggest that the "clear and convincing" standard is more burdensome than it really is. Appellants obliquely suggest that the clear and convincing evidence standard approximates the standard of beyond a reasonable doubt. This is, of course, an inaccurate statement of the matter.

The clear and convincing standard requires that the proponent of disputed facts convince the trier of fact "that the existence of the disputed facts are very highly probable . . . ." Lovett v. Continental Bank and Trust Company, 4 Utah 2d 701, 286 P.2d 1065 (1955). This standard is a comparative degree of certainty higher than the "preponderance of evidence" standard, yet lower than the "beyond a reasonable doubt" standard. Id.<sup>2</sup>

---

<sup>2</sup>Cf. Justice Wolfe in Greener v. Greener, 116 Utah 571, 212 P.2d 194, 204 (1949):

That proof is convincing which carries with it, not only the power to persuade the mind as to the probable truth or correctness of the fact is purports to prove, but has the element of clinching such truth or correctness. Clear and convincing proof clinches what might otherwise be only probable to the mind.

Significantly, while defining the comparative degrees of certainty of proof, this Court has recognized that whenever facts are disputed, findings of fact must be based on probabilities rather than on absolute certainties. Id.

The duty to determine whether evidence is clear and convincing rests with the trial court. After hearing the evidence in this matter, the lower court determined that respondent had met the requisite degree of proof of the facts enumerated in the findings. On appeal, the test of the sufficiency of the evidence to support the lower court's findings is whether the evidence is reasonably sufficient. Lovett v. Continental Bank and Trust Company, 4 Utah 2d 76, 286 P.2d 1065, 1068 (1955). See also, Holman v. Deseret Savings Bank, 41 Utah 340, 124 P. 765 (1912).

(2) Actual physical delivery of the certificates is not required for a valid inter vivos gift of stock.

Appellants argue that Utah and a majority of other jurisdictions require manual delivery of certificates to complete a valid inter vivos gift of stock. As their brief states at page 20:

"Thus the overwhelming majority of states require an actual transfer and delivery of the stock certificate itself before a gift of stock is deemed to have occurred. Utah is numbered among the majority of states which have adopted this requirement."

The Utah cases cited by appellants simply do not support their proposition. Rasmussen v. Sevier Valley Canal Company, 40 Utah 371, 121 P. 741 (1912) held that an oral order by the decedent to the corporation to transfer his stock ownership on the corporate records to his son's name was sufficient for a valid transfer

of the stock where no certificates of stock were ever issued. Appellants' version of the holding of Rasmussen is obviously incorrect since no certificates were ever issued.

The two remaining cases cited by appellants do not even deal with inter vivos gifts. Both Brown v. Wright, 48 Utah 633, 161 P. 448 (1916) and Gowans v. Rockport Irrigation Company, 77 Utah 198, 293 P. 4 (1930) hold that in a commercial setting, actual physical delivery of certificates presenting shares of stock is sufficient to transfer title.

Contrary to appellants' assertion, a majority of jurisdiction hold that a complete gift of stock can be made without an actual manual delivery of the certificates. Annotation, 23 A.L.R.2d 1171, 1174 (1952). At least thirty states, as well as several federal courts, have adopted this view. Id.

38 Am.Jur.2d, Gifts, Section 51 (1968), states the majority rule:

Generally, there is a complete gift of corporate stock where, by the direction of its owner, it has been transferred to the donee on the books of the corporation and a new certificate issued in the name of the donee, or where a certificate is issued in the first instance in the name of the donee, even though the certificate so issued is retained by the donor or the corporation, and not delivered to the donee. Thus, where a donor causes a certificate of stock to be issued in the name of the donee, retaining possession thereof himself, but at all times regarding the certificate as the property of the donee and his own possession as that of a trustee of the donee, the delivery to himself as trustee of the donee is sufficient to complete the gift. Similarly,

a completed gift of corporate stock is made by causing it to be issued in the name of another, even though the certificates are not detached from the stock book and are not delivered to the donee, but remain in the custody of the corporation, and the donee is ignorant of the transaction at the time. (Citations omitted.)

Accord, Annotation, 99 A.L.R. 1077 (1935).

In a frequently cited case, Phillips v. Plastridge, 107 Vt. 267, 179 A. 157 (1935), a widow sought to compel an alleged donee to account for proceeds from stocks the widow claimed to be part of the decedent's estate. The facts showed that decedent had conveyed property to a granite company in exchange for 121 shares of its initial capital stock. He directed that 100 of those shares be issued in the name of his daughter. The certificates were so issued, but remained in the possession of the corporation until after the donor's death. The lower court found that there was a completed gift from the decedent, Phillips, to his daughter. Affirming on appeal, the Vermont court reasoned:

So there was [a completed gift]. Phillips had divested himself of all right and title to the stock and the complete ownership had passed to his daughter. It was his voluntary act, affording an inference of the existence of a donative intent. Under the circumstances, a manual delivery of the certificates was not necessary. In Roberts' Appeal, 85 Pa. 84, 86, it is said: "The gift is complete by the delivery of the thing itself, for transferring the shares to her upon the books of the company is putting her in complete possession of the thing assigned, and clothing her with the complete legal title. It stands in the place of a delivery. Such an act performs precisely the

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